700481

No.70048-*4*-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LALIDA SCHNURMAN, Respondent

v.

SETH SCHNURMAN, Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

H. Michael Finesilver (fka Fields) Attorney for Appellant

207 E. Edgar Street Seattle, WA 98102 (206) 322-2060 W.S.B.A. #5495

Introduction:

This appeal involves questions of law not addressed by either the legislature or by appellate court published decisions. None have dealt the question, the proper methodology to determine the amount of a transfer payment, where neither parent is the primary residential parent, to wit, the children reside equally with both parents.

I. Assignments Of Error

A. Assignment Of Error #1

The Trial Court Erred In Utilizing The Standard Calculation Of Child Support To Determine The Amount Of The Transfer Payment Required Of The Father Since The Mother Is Not The Majority Residential Parent.

Issues Related To Assignment Of Error #1:

Whether finding of fact #2.20 should be treated as a conclusion of law: that an amount of the transfer payment, which is less than the standard calculation, constitutes a deviation under RCW 26.19.075?

Whether the criteria set forth in the deviation statute are too limiting when considering the kinds of expenses a transfer payment is designed to cover, such as, shelter, transportation, clothes etc.?

B. Assignment Of Error #2:

The Court Erred In Failing To Consider And Apportion The Expenses Each Parent Pays For Expenses Such As Shelter,

Transportation And Clothing, Where They Share Equal Residential Time With The Children.

Issue Related To Assignment of Error #2:

Whether the appropriate method would be to apportion the incomes of the parties to the costs expended in each household that a transfer payment is designed to cover, in order to determine the appropriate amount of the transfer payment that the father will pay the mother: housing, food, transportation, clothing, and incidental expenses.

II. Statement Of The Case:

The parties were married on June 22, 2001 and separated on July 22, 2011 (CP 157). They have two children who at the time of dissolution in February 2013 were age 8 and age 6 (CP 159).

The trial judge awarded the mother spousal maintenance of \$2,000 per month for three years and also imputed income of \$2,000 per month to her (CP 165). The court took these incomes into consideration in determining child support, finding the mother's after tax income to be \$3,380.33 per month and the father's to be \$6337.69 (CP 108).

The trial was largely over the residential provisions of a final parenting plan order with each party seeking majority residential care.

The court imposed a final parenting plan order that resulted in an equal

sharing of residential time during each year. Neither parent is the majority or primary residential parent. (CP 172 - 175).

The trial court utilized the standard calculation to determine the amount of the transfer payment and determined that a deviation should not be ordered (CP 160).

III. Argument:

A. Assignment Of Error #1

Once it is understood what child costs the standard calculation is designed to cover and how those costs are quantified on the economic table, it will be clear why imposition of the standard calculation as to the transfer payment, where parents equally share residential time of their children, is an error of law.

1. The Costs That A Majority Residential Parent Is Presumed To Pay As The Basic Child Support Obligation Are For Shelter, Transportation, Clothes, and Incidental Expenses.

RCW 26.19.080 obligates each parent to pay a pro-rata share of child rearing cost of the children based upon net incomes. The statute breaks these costs down into three distinct components other than post-secondary education (not applicable here).

One component pertains to uninsured health care costs. These costs are apportioned with each parent obligated to pay the provider as billed, or by one parent, and then reimbursed by the other based upon a proration of their monthly net incomes (see RCW 26.19.080 (2)). A second component pertains to other direct child care costs: work related day care, education costs, such as tuition, agreed upon extracurricular activities: music lessons, sports, etc. These too are apportioned between the parents based upon their net incomes (RCW 26.19.080 (3)). The final child support order segregates these two distinct categories, under separate sections: 3.19 and 3.23 (CP 114 and 115). What each parent pays for these two types of expenses is the same, irrespective of whom or whether there is a primary residential parent.

The third component of the child support obligation involves child related expenses not including day care, health education, etc. under RCW 26.19.080 (1). Those costs encompass the balance of child related obligations for shelter, transportation, food, vacation, if any, etc. These costs are mainly fungible in that they are shared among the adult and the children for whom child support is to be paid. (See *In re The Marriage of Krieger and Walker*, Wn.App 952 at 962, 199 P.3d 450 (2008).

The economic table contains an amount that is presumptive as to the portion of those costs attributable to the children based upon the combined net incomes of the parents, as if they were an intact family. That amount is called the basic child support obligation (RCW 26.19. 080 and line 5 of the child support work sheet) (CP 51).

2. The Cost Amount Of The Basic Child Support Obligation Covered Under RCW 26.19.080 (1) Is The Same No Matter Which Parent Is The Majority Residential Parent.

Every child support order must contain a form called a child support worksheet signed by the trial judge. This is required so that a reviewing court can understand how the transfer payment was derived (see *In re Marriage of Sacco*, 114 Wa.2d 1 at 6, 784 P.2d 1266 (1990)).

In this case a worksheet was submitted for the judge's signature.

For reasons unexplained when the judge signed the child support order,
she did not sign the work sheet. Nevertheless, there is no dispute as to the
accuracy of the worksheet.

The standard calculation of a transfer payment on the worksheet is on line 9 (CP 52). The worksheet covers items not related to a standard calculation on subsequent lines: Line 10 covers uninsured health care expenses under RCW 26.19.080 (2), and line 11 covers day care,

education, and other expenses each parent should pay pursuant to RCW 26.19.080 (3). In this case those lines are blank (CP 52).

3. Only The Parent Who Has Majority Residential Care Is Entitled To The Standard Calculation Transfer Amount.

The amount of the apportionment of the presumptive fungible costs for shelter, food, transportation, etc. attributed to the children for which a transfer payment is to be paid based upon the combined incomes of the parties at \$9,718 per month, is reflected as the basic child support obligation: it is \$1994 per month (see line 2, 4, and 5 of the worksheet (CP 51)), and is the same irrespective of who is the majority residential parent.

The standard calculation of a transfer payment is derived by taking each parent's pro rata share of the amount of those presumptive child costs represented by the number \$1994 per month as the basic child support obligation (see line 6) (CP 51). Line 7 shows that since Mr. Schnurman earns 65.2% and Ms. Schnurman 34.8% of their combined net incomes (CP 52), if Mr. Schnurman were the majority residential parent, Ms. Schnurman would owe him 34.8% of \$1994 per month or \$693.91 per month (see line 9, CP 52). If Ms. Schnurman were the majority residential parent, Mr. Schnurman would owe her 65.2% of \$1994.00, or \$1300.09

per month, (see line 9) (CP 52). However, under the parenting plan entered here, neither parent is the primary residential parent:

"The children named in this parenting plan are schedule to reside substantially equal time with both parents. Both parents are designated the custodian of the children solely for purposes of all other state and deferral statues which require a designation or determination of custody. This designation shall not affect either parent's rights and responsibilities under this parenting plan" (CP 175).

4. Earning The Lesser Of The Total Combined Incomes Does Not Entitled One To A Transfer Payment Based Upon The Standard Calculation As If He Or She Were A Majority Residential Parent.

The operating principle used by the trial judge here was that Ms. Schnurman was necessarily to be treated as if she were the majority residential parent because she makes less income than Mr. Schnurman. This is reflected by virtue of her ordering a transfer payment based upon the standard calculation (CP 51).

In re the Marriage of Oakes, 71 Wn. App 646, 861 P.2d 1065 (1993) involved a split custody situation in which each parent had a different child a majority of the residential time. Application of the standard calculation was approved. However, Oakes, supra was later overruled, by a Division I case which failed to follow the methodology to

determine a transfer payment utilized in *Oakes*, supra by stating, in reference to its holding:

"The problem with the final amount is that it still assumes that one parent...is the primary residential caretaker of both children. That is to say, the method applied in *Oakes* does not equitably apportion the amount owed based upon each parent's primary caretaking responsibility." *In re Marriage of Arvey*, supra at 825 (1995).

The same conclusion obtains where neither parent is the primary residential parent.

In re The Marriage of Holmes, 128 Wn. App 727, 117 P.3d 370 (2005), involved a mother who did not have majority residential care and earned \$4,000 per month. Her ex-husband, who was the majority residential parent, earned \$600,000 net income per month. She argued that he should be paying her the standard calculations transfer payment as a fair apportionment under RCW 26.19.001. Based on the principles quoted above, the Court of Appeals Division I upheld the trial court decision, which failed to require the primary parent, the father, to pay child support to the mother. In reading the court's explanation, it should be recalled that the term "custodial" meant what came to be renamed as primary or majority residential parent after the enactment of the parenting act in 1987:

"Child support payments have historically been the obligation of the noncustodial parent. (Emphasis supplied). It has been within the province of the superior court to determine which parent will be custodial, which would pay child support and how much would be paid. The historical presumption was reflected in the Uniform Child Support Guidelines, which were approved in 1982 by the Washington State Association of Superior Court Judges. Under the ASCJ Guidelines..." (See Washington State Child Support Commission, Final Report, November 1, 1987 at 6).

The obligation of the custodial parent was satisfied by providing for the child in that parent's home, as evidenced by the fact that the custodial parent received a support payment and did not make one. These guidelines were replaced by the child support guidelines as adopted by the Washington Child Support Commission and as subsequently enacted by the legislature as chapter 26.19 RCW. This chapter focuses on the method of calculation of support, not on which parent would make payment to the other. The latter determination is made under chapter 26.09 RCW (emphasis supplied).

...RCW 26.09.100(1) as amended, vested the superior court with authority to 'order either or both parents... to pay [child support] in an amount determined under chapter 26.19 RCW.' However, the legislature did not change the historical presumption in practice that the parent with whom the child resided a majority of the time would satisfy the support obligation by providing for the child while in his or her home and that the other parent would make a child support transfer payment. As this court recently noted,

[i]n those situations [where children reside a majority of the time with one parent], the obligor parent is the one with whom the children do not reside a majority of the time and that parent makes a transfer payment to the parent with whom the children primarily reside (emphasis supplied) (Citation omitted). In re Marriage of Holmes, supra.

In summary, the only parent entitled to a transfer payment based upon the standard calculation, is the parent with whom the children reside a majority of their residential time. In an equal sharing of time arrangement there is no parent with whom the children reside a majority of the time. Therefore, the award of child support, as if Ms. Schnurman were a majority parent, is an abuse of discretion.

State ex rel MMG v. Graham, 159 Wa. 2d 623, 152 P.3d 1005 (2007), does not hold otherwise. Graham, supra, involved an equal sharing of residential time, but none of the parties to that appeal raised the question of whether determination of a standard calculation is appropriate. All parties took as a given that it does.

The father argued that the *In re Marriage of Arvey*¹ formula in a divided residential arrangement, (which necessarily would also require first determining a standard calculation, since both parents have majority residential time with a different child), should apply in a shared residential arrangement. Starting from the same premise, the state argued that a standard calculation, based upon an extrapolated amount was appropriate. Both of them lost.

¹ 77 Wn.App 817, 894 P.2d 1346 (1995)

However, since each party's position began with the assumption, without challenge, that the standard calculation is the necessary beginning point, the court reasoned from within that framework. Thus, whether that framework was the wrong premise was not before the court. It is here. This issue has not been raised in any other published decision.

Since the standard calculation can only be paid to a primary residential parent, whether a deviation is warranted is not to be reached. Deviations are only to be considered as a counter-point to a standard calculation: "Reasons for deviation from the standard calculation include but are not limited to the following..." (See RCW 26.19.075 (3)). The trial judge here looked to whether a downward deviation from what would be the "standard calculation" was appropriate and determined that it was not. This is reflected in finding of fact 2.20 in the child support order but in reality is a conclusion of law and, therefore, to be reviewed de novo. (*In re Parentage of M.F.*, 141 Wn. App 558, 170 P.3d 601 (2007)). The trial court erred see also *In re G.W.-F*, 170 Wn. App 631, 285 P.3d 208, (2012).

The child's portions of the costs of housing are a major component of a transfer payment under RCW 26.19.080(1). And yet, under the

deviation statute only debt that is "extraordinary debt not voluntarily incurred" can be considered (See RCW 26.19.075 (1) (c) (i). The children's portion of Mr. Schnurman's mortgage payments and utilities costs, Ms. Schnurman's rent payments are utility costs, credit card purchases for food, clothing, household supplies, gas, oil, car repairs, and car payments by each party are all voluntary debts, and they are not extraordinary. And yet these very debts are among those apportioned by means of in a transfer payment. Therefore, the deviation statute does not apply to a determination of what apportionment of these child related expenses, should be that results in a transfer payment where neither parent is a majority residential parent.

In fact, Mr. Schnurman did not seek a deviation (CP 35), because his position on this appeal is exactly what he urged upon the trial court (CP 35-49). Instead he urged an amount based upon the methodology suggested under assignment of error #2.

B. Assignment of Error #2

What Method Should Then Be Used To Determine The Amount Mr. Schnurman Should Pay Ms. Schnurman for the Two Children?

Division I has observed: "when the legislature enacted Washington's child support statute, RCW 26.19, it did not establish a method for calculating child support when each parent has primary residential care of one or more of the children. Washington courts have therefore been faced with the task of flushing out an acceptable method that is consistent with the overall purpose of the act." *Arvey*, supra at 823 (1995). The same is true where neither parent has primary residential care of any of the children, to wit: an equal sharing of residential time.

The purpose of the act is outlined in RCW 26.19.001. It states in pertinent part:

"The legislature also intends that the child support obligation should be equitably apportioned between the parents."

Our State Supreme Court observed that..."in shared residential situations, both parents are responsible for the same children and the same needs." *State ex rel. M.M.G. v Graham*, 159 Wn.2d 623 at 636, 152 P.3d 1005 (2007). A recent Division I case is instructive as to how the court should quantify and apportion those needs: to wit, the fungible costs attributable to the children, for shelter etc. in determining how these

expenses are to be prorated based upon incomes in an equal time or "shared residential" arrangement.

In re The Marriage of Krieger and Walker, 147 Wn. App. 952, 199 P.3d 450 (2008) is a case in which the father was not seeing the children at all. The combined incomes of the parties exceeded the maximum advisory level. What is instructive is its method of approach used by the court of appeals to determine an equitable apportionment of the costs to determine the amount of the transfer payment obligation. The court stated:

"According to Walker's budget, the children's monthly expenses for basic needs of housing, utilities, food and transportation are at least \$1800. Fn 31" *Krieger*, supra at 964 (2008).

Footnote 31 further elaborates: "This is half of \$3,725.69 which is the total of these expenses," *Krieger*, supra at 964 (2008). This is the first reported decision that contains a methodology that quantifies the child support expenses that impact the transfer payment under RCW 26.19.080 (1), as distinguished from expenses not included in the transfer payment, such as medical costs or private school tuition, separately required under RCW 26.19.080 (2) and (3). Thus, it requires that the transfer payment expenses, common to the adult and the child in each household, be

segregated so as to determine those costs strictly attributable to the children, such as "housing, utilities, food, and transportation" (see *Krieger*, supra at 964).

IV. Conclusion

Thus the following methodology is suggested. The standards that govern a transfer payment that fulfills the policies of RCW 26.09.020 applicable to combined incomes that exceed the maximum advisory level be applicable to a determination of a transfer payment in an equal sharing of residential time scenario except that the costs in both households are weighed.

First, to quantify the amount each parent pays for housing including utilities, cable, internet etc., food and transportation. An apportionment of those costs as attributable to the children should next be ascertained. Costs of such direct costs such as clothing for the children and other incidental expenses should be added. Since Mr. Schnurman earns 65.2% of their combined net incomes, he necessarily will pay her a transfer payment, that apportions of those actual costs based upon their incomes.

The trial court should be directed to consider the expenses in each household the basic support obligation is designed to cover, as well as the household supplies, transportation, and any other expenses that impact each family not included under RCW 26.19.080(2) or (3). These should then be apportioned to derive a cost attributable to the children and prorated based upon incomes. Since Mr. Schnurman earns more this will result in a transfer payment from him to her.