I. INTRODUCTION

This is a frivolous appeal. How to calculate child support in a 50/50 residential arrangement was decided by this Court in *State ex rel*. *M.M.G. v. Graham*. That holding was affirmed by the Washington State Supreme Court. Moreover, Appellant's suggestion for a new method to change how child support is calculated in an equally shared residential schedule defeats the public policy and stated purpose behind the child support statutes. For these reasons, not only should the trial court's decision be affirmed, but Respondent should be awarded her attorney fees based upon intransigence, frivolous appeal, and RCW 26.09.140 (need and ability to pay).

II. FACTS

Appellant's recited facts are largely correct. Appellant omits, however, that Appellant requested a deviation from the standard calculation for child support, and the trial court denied his request for deviation. The trial court found:

While the Husband will be spending substantial time with the children, there is no evidence this will significantly increase his costs to support the children or significantly reduce Wife's expenses to support the children. Allowing a downward deviation from the standard child support

¹ 123 Wash. App. 931, 941, 99 P.3d 1248, 1253 (2004)

² 159 Wash. 2d 623, 152 P.3d 1005 (2007). Extrapolation then abrogated by *McCausland v. McCausland*, 159 Wash. 2d 607, 152 P.3d 1013 (2007)

calculation will also result in insufficient funds for the Wife's household.³

Appellant did not assign error to these findings. They are, therefore, verities on appeal.⁴

III. ARGUMENT

A. The Standard of Review is Abuse of Discretion

The standard of review is abuse of discretion. "The Legislature intended to allow judicial discretion in appropriate circumstances when calculating child support payments..." "The appellate court will overturn an award of child support only when the party challenging the award demonstrates that the trial court's decision is manifestly unreasonable, based on untenable grounds, or granted for untenable reasons." Here, Appellant never provided a verbatim report of any proceedings; he cannot successfully challenge any facts the trial court found because the record Appellant provided is inadequate for review. Appellant must, therefore, show the trial court committed an error at law. This he cannot do. This Court should affirm the trial court's child support determination.

³ CP 109, Child Support Order ¶3.8

⁴ Robel v. Roundup Corp., 148 Wash.2d 35, 42, 59 P.3d 611, 615 (2002)

⁵ Matter of Marriage of Booth, 114 Wash. 2d 772, 776, 791 P.2d 519, 521 (1990)

In re Marriage of Peterson, 80 Wash. App. 148, 152, 906 P.2d 1009, 1011 (1995)
Allemeier v. Univ. of Washington, 42 Wash. App. 465, 472-73, 712 P.2d 306, 310 (1985)

⁸ Peterson, 80 Wash. App. at 152

B. The Trial Court did not Abuse its Discretion in Requiring Appellant to Pay Respondent the Standard Calculation for Child Support.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in requiring Appellant to pay Respondent the standard calculation for child support because the trial court followed binding precedent previously established by this Court and affirmed by the Washington State Supreme Court. This Court in *M.M.G. v. Graham* held that in an equally shared residential arrangement "a trial court must calculate the basic child support amount and may then deviate from that amount based on the amount of residential time spent with the obligor parent." The Washington State Supreme Court affirmed this holding, but reversed this Court's opinion that allowed trial courts to extrapolate guideline support when the parents' combined monthly income exceeded the economic tables. ¹⁰

In *Graham* the children were to "spend equal amounts of time with their parents on alternating weeks." The father in *Graham* made the identical argument Appellant makes here, namely that "chapter 26.19 RCW does not adequately guide the trial court in calculating the child support obligation where parents share residential time with their

9 123 Wash. App. 931, 941, 99 P.3d 1248, 1253 (2004)

McCausland v. McCausland, 159 Wash. 2d 607, 152 P.3d 1013 (2007)

11 Graham, 159 Wash. 2d at 628

¹⁰ 159 Wash. 2d 623, 152 P.3d 1005 (2007). Extrapolation then abrogated by

children."¹² The father in *Graham*, like the Appellant here, claimed the equally shared residential schedule required "the parents to incur equivalent residential costs."¹³ This Court rejected the father's argument in *Graham* as it should similarly reject the Appellant's argument here.

The Washington Supreme Court affirmed this Court's holding that child support in equally shared residential parenting arrangements should be calculated and apportioned using the standard child support calculation and then allowing a discretionary deviation affecting the payment amount and apportionment using the discretion provided in RCW 26.19.075.¹⁴

There is also no statutory provision, or case law, that prohibits a transfer payment from the advantaged parent to the disadvantaged parent in an equally shared residential arrangement. In fact, the child support statutes are flexible enough to apply the uniform child support schedule to equally shared residential arrangements. RCW 26.19.011 defines the "Support transfer payment" as "the amount of money the court orders <u>one</u> parent to pay to another parent." Nowhere does it state the parent

12 Id. at 631

^{13 &}lt;u>Id</u>. at 633

¹⁴ <u>Id</u>. at 638 To be sure, this is exactly how this Court has recently interpreted this Court's and the Washington Supreme Court's decisions in *Graham*. In re Marriage of Stephenson, 68507-4-I, 2013 WL 1337778 (Wash. Ct. App. Apr. 1, 2013)

receiving the support transfer payment must be the parent with whom the child resides a majority of the time.

The *Holmes*¹⁵ case cited by Appellant does not alter this analysis. In *Holmes* this Court merely affirmed the trial court's decision to not require the father, who was the primary residential parent, to pay the mother a support transfer payment. It held under the circumstances presented there, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in declining to award a support transfer payment to the parent with whom the child did not reside a majority of the time.¹⁶

Moreover, *Holmes*, while disagreeing with the statutory interpretation in *Casey*¹⁷, approved its conclusion that held a trial court did not abuse its discretion in awarding a child support transfer payment to a mother with whom the child did not reside a majority of the time because there was sufficient evidence to deviate from the standard calculation and failing to do so would have left insufficient funds in the mother's household.¹⁸ Finally, *Holmes* did not address an equally shared

=

¹⁵ In re The Marriage of Holmes, 128 Wash. App. 727, 117 P.3d 370 (2005)

¹⁶ Holmes, 128 Wash. App. at 741, 117 P.3d 370, 376 (2005) ("The trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying her request").

¹⁷ In re Marriage of Casey, 88 Wash. App. 662, 967 P.2d 982, 984 (1997)

¹⁸ Casey, 88 Wash. App at 667; and Holmes, at 737, f.n.1 and 740.

residential arrangement. It even cited this Court's opinion in *Graham* as authority.¹⁹

Because the trial court used this approved method in calculating child support, it did not commit any error at law and did not abuse its discretion. Its child support determination should be affirmed.

C. The Trial Court did not Abuse its Discretion in Refusing to Deviate From the Standard Calculation.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to deviate from the standard calculation. RCW 26.19.075(d) gives trial courts discretion to deviate from the standard calculation based upon the residential time a parent has with the child. RCW 26.19.035(2) requires a trial court to support a deviation, as well as its decision to deny a requested deviation, by written findings. RCW 26.19.075(d) explicitly prohibits a deviation "if the deviation will result in insufficient funds in the household receiving the support to meet the basic needs of the child." This statute also requires the trial court to specifically consider how much extra the obligor parent must pay for having the additional residential time with the children and how much the obligee parent would save by not having the children during the other parent's residential time.

Here the trial court considered all the required factors and made all the required findings. It expressly found a deviation that would have

¹⁹ Holmes, at 739

awarded less child support, which would have resulted in insufficient income in the mother's household. Under these circumstances, a deviation awarding less support based on residential time was expressly prohibited. In addition, the trial court found there was no evidence the Appellant's expenses would increase or the mother's expenses would decrease from this residential arrangement.

Appellant did not assign error to these facts found by the trial court. They are, therefore, verities on appeal.²⁰ Even if Appellant had assigned error to these findings, he failed to provide a verbatim report of proceedings necessary for meaningful review. This Court is, therefore, duty bound to affirm the trial court's decision.²¹

D. Appellant's Suggested new way to Calculate Child Support in Equally Shared Residential Arrangements Would Violate Public Policy and the Explicitly Stated Purpose Behind the Child Support Statutes.

Even if this Court were to consider whether to depart from its prior holding in *Graham*, it should decline Appellant's invitation in this case because his suggestion would violate our child support statute's explicitly stated public policy and purpose. RCW 26.19.001 states the Legislature's intent behind establishing a uniform child support schedule

²⁰ Robel v. Roundup Corp., 148 Wash.2d 35, 42, 59 P.3d 611, 615 (2002)

²¹ Dash Point Vill. Associates v. Exxon Corp., 86 Wash. App. 596, 612, 937 P.2d 1148, 1157 (1997) amended on denial of reconsideration, 86 Wash. App. 596, 971 P.2d 57 (1998)

was "to insure that child support orders are adequate to meet a child's basic needs..." Here, the trial court specifically found ordering less child support than the child support set forth in the child support worksheets would result in insufficient funds in the mother's household. Reducing child support for whatever reason, including the new method suggested by Appellant, would thwart the Legislature's expressed intent. Further, the Legislature overtly stated another objective behind setting support using a uniform child support schedule – "Reducing the adversarial nature of the proceedings by increasing voluntary settlements as a result of greater predictability..." Adopting the case-by-case ad hoc approach advanced by Appellant would decrease predictability and, thus, decrease voluntary settlements. This would increase, and not reduce, the adversarial nature of child support proceedings in an equally shared residential arrangement.

E. Respondent is Entitled to Attorney Fees.

The Respondent Mother is entitled to her appellate attorney fees. First, this is a frivolous appeal. RCW 4.84.185 and RAP 18.9(a) allow this Court to award reasonable expenses, including attorney fees, if an appeal is frivolous and advanced without reasonable cause.²² A frivolous action is one that cannot be supported by any rational argument on the

²² Goldmark v. McKenna, 172 Wash. 2d 568, 582, 259 P.3d 1095, 1102-03 (2011)

law or facts.²³ While Mother recognizes this is a high hurdle, it has been met in this case. Here, this identical matter has already been decided by this Court in *Graham*, a published opinion, and affirmed by the Washington Supreme Court. This Court has even interpreted the *Graham* decisions to prohibit Appellant's argument in a similar equally shared residential arrangement in an unpublished decision.²⁴ Despite this, Appellant tries to argue the issue was not decided by *Graham*. This is frivolous and imposing fees under these circumstances is warranted.

Second, Appellant is intransigent in bringing this appeal. RAP 18.1(a) allows this Court to award attorney fees to a party based on any grounds attorney fees would be awardable at trial. "Intransigence is a basis for awarding fees on appeal." The financial resources of the parties need not be considered when intransigence by one party is established. Intransigence includes obstruction by making an issue unduly difficult and thereby increasing another party's legal fees. Here, even if this appeal is not frivolous, it certainly made a relatively simple and straightforward application of the uniform child support schedule

_

²³ Goldmark, 172 Wash.2d at 582.

²⁴ In re Marriage of Stephenson, 68507-4-I, 2013 WL 1337778 (Wash. Ct. App. Apr. 1, 2013). Presumably this decision was unpublished because the holding in *Graham* on how to calculate child support in an equally shared residential arrangement was so patently clear that a further published decision would serve no precedential value.

²⁵ Mattson v. Mattson, 95 Wash. App. 592, 605, 976 P.2d 157, 165 (1999)

²⁶ Mattson, 95 Wash. App. at 605

²⁷ Matter of Marriage of Greenlee, 65 Wash. App. 703, 708, 829 P.2d 1120, 1123 (1992)

unduly difficult. This is especially true where, as here, the trial court made an express finding that awarding less child support to Mother would result in insufficient income to Mother's household. Under these circumstances, this appeal demonstrates intransigence and justifies an appellate attorney fee award.

Finally, Mother is entitled to appellate attorney fees based on need and ability to pay. RAP 18.1(a) allows this Court to award fees on any basis allowed by statute. RCW 26.09.140 allows this Court to award fees based on the parties' relative need and ability to pay considering all the parties' respective resources. Here, Appellant has a superior ability to pay and Mother has a demonstrated need for fees. Mother will file a Financial Declaration within 10 days prior to this matter being argued or otherwise submitted for consideration.

DATED this 27 day of June, 2013.

OLYMPIC LAW GROUP, PLLP

Dennis J. McGlothin, WSBA No. 28177 Robert J. Cadranell, WSBA No. 41773

2815 Eastlake Ave. E. Ste 170

Seattle, WA 98102 · Phone: 206-527-2500 Attorneys for Respondent Lalida Schnurman